

Building a Better Energy Future in Puerto Rico

By Bonnie Krenz

September 2018



Building a Better Energy Future in Puerto Rico

By Bonnie Krenz

September 2018

Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
 - 4 Electricity market and regulatory structures
 - 9 Overarching regulatory initiatives: Leading from states' executive branches
 - 13 Overarching legislative initiatives: Leading from states' legislatures
 - 16 Emissions and renewables
 - 21 Affordability
 - 25 Reliability
 - 28 Best practices, lessons, and recommendations for Puerto Rico
 - 32 Conclusion
 - 33 About the author and acknowledgments
 - 34 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

In September 2017, Puerto Rico's electricity grid was devastated by Hurricane Maria. Eleven months later, the commonwealth finally reconnected electricity for all of its residents. 1 It was the longest, largest blackout in U.S. history and among the largest blackouts in the world.2

The island's sole electric utility—the vertically integrated, government-run Puerto Rico Electric Power Authority (PREPA)—faced numerous challenges even before the storm. With most of Puerto Rico's grid powered by expensive, imported fossil fuels, including 47 percent of electricity generation coming from petroleum,³ the cost of residential electricity in Puerto Rico is higher than it is in most states. At the same time, the median household income on the island is less than half the median household income in Mississippi, the poorest of the 50 states. PREPA has more generation capacity than it needs to power the island today, but it is largely in the form of legacy fossil fuel plants, which are both expensive to maintain and not well-suited to meet the island's energy needs and goals. Puerto Rico passed a renewable portfolio standard (RPS) in 2010, requiring PREPA to generate 12 percent of its electricity from renewable sources by 2015, 15 percent by 2020, and 20 percent by 2035⁴ goals that the commonwealth has so far failed to meet. Currently, just 4 percent of electricity in Puerto Rico is supplied by renewable energy sources.⁵

Hurricane Maria, which was a Category 4 storm packing winds of up to 155 mph when it made landfall, exposed additional weaknesses in the system, including poorly maintained and overloaded transmission lines. In addition to the issues with PREPA's physical infrastructure, decades of financial mismanagement and political corruption have taken a toll on the utility's fiscal health. Unable to sustain its \$9 billion debt, PREPA has been negotiating with creditors for several years to restructure its obligations; in July 2017, it filed for bankruptcy, and in July 2018, it announced a preliminary deal to restructure part of that debt.8

Even though the lights are finally back on throughout Puerto Rico, serious challenges remain. The grid is still shaky—an accident by a repair crew plunged the entire island back into darkness in April of this year—and experts doubt its ability to weather another serious storm. In addition, rather than making the grid more resilient for future storms, restoration to "predisaster condition" is usually the goal. Furthermore, it is not clear that PREPA is meeting even this standard: Fredyson Martinez, vice president of the power authority workers' union, estimates that about 10 percent to 15 percent of the repair work does not meet basic quality standards. As a result, even with electricity service restored, there remains significant work to do to prepare Puerto Rico for the next storm.

The commonwealth has taken a variety of steps to reform its electricity sector, and PREPA in particular. In June, Puerto Rico Gov. Ricardo Rosselló signed legislation that allows for the partial privatization of PREPA. ¹² The governor has championed the privatization plan as a way to lower energy costs, but critics are concerned that the legislation could actually result in higher energy costs for consumers. ¹³ The law lays out the broad strokes of privatization, which would happen in two phases—the first focusing on electricity generation, the second on distribution—but it requires further action. The Puerto Rico Legislature has 180 days to create a new comprehensive energy policy that details the privatization plan. If a new plan is not produced by January 2019, the end of the 180-day period, previous energy laws will supersede the June legislation. ¹⁴

There have also been efforts to substantially change the role of the Puerto Rico Energy Commission (PREC), Puerto Rico's independent electricity regulator. Earlier this year, Gov. Rosselló submitted a plan to consolidate PREC with other regulatory bodies, which critics said would remove the regulator's independence and reduce its authority. At this time, it appears that PREC will remain independent, though the legislation passed in June to privatize PREPA does include changes to the structure of PREC. For example, it expands the commission's membership from three members to five—a change that critics are concerned will allow Gov. Rosselló to create a "lopsided" commission, particularly since he will have the opportunity to appoint four of its members. Furthermore, the proposal would require PREC to approve individual proposals for selling off power plants under the privatization plan and to make its decision on these proposals within 15 days of submission. An incredibly short timeline compared with industry standards. This could interfere with PREC's ability to do a thorough review.

As Puerto Rico rebuilds its electricity grid and considers the future of PREPA, policymakers should take the opportunity to enact changes to its regulatory system that will better enable the island's utility to serve residents and businesses while building a cleaner, more affordable, and more reliable energy system.

The good news is that Puerto Rican policymakers don't have to start entirely from square one: They can and should take lessons from other states' experiences. This report examines six states—California, Colorado, Hawaii, Massachusetts, Minnesota, and New York—that are at the forefront of grid modernization. First, it explains how these states have set up regulation of their electric utilities. It then examines how these states have pursued broad electricity system modernization, either through regulation or legislation. Next, it looks specifically at how these states have incentivized their electric utilities to simultaneously pursue goals for emissions reduction and for renewable energy deployment, affordability, and reliability.

Finally, based on the author's review of the policies and regulatory systems in these states, this report makes recommendations for how Puerto Rico can apply these lessons to its own electricity sector. The primary findings and recommendations include maintaining PREC as a strong, independent, and technocratic regulatory commission that is empowered to ensure PREPA meets its energy goals; increasing efforts and investment to integrate low-cost clean energy sources into the island's electric grid; and transitioning to a performance-based regulation system that will increase accountability at PREPA to prioritize affordability, reliability, and emissions reductions.

Nearly 3,000 people died in Puerto Rico as a result of Hurricane Maria—a number that could still rise. 18 In the absence of reliable electricity, kidney disease patients cannot access dialysis, diabetics cannot keep insulin refrigerated, and hospitals and doctors' offices cannot easily communicate with one another across distances. This is in addition to the multiple challenges people encounter just trying to cook, clean, and bathe without power. It is critical that Puerto Rico take this opportunity to make smart investments in building a 21st-century electric grid and to create the transparent, trustworthy system of utility governance that Puerto Ricans deserve.

Electricity market and regulatory structures

The six states covered in this report represent a variety of electricity systems. Some have deregulated and restructured their electricity sectors to introduce competitive bidding for electricity supply and to allow consumers to choose their electricity supplier; others continue to have vertically integrated utilities that are the sole providers of both electricity generation and distribution. Some have a small handful of large investor-owned utilities, while others have a combination of distribution-only utilities, vertically integrated municipal utilities, rural cooperatives, competitive suppliers, and community choice aggregators. Some have an independent system operator that manages the flow of power for their state or region, while others do not. There is one tool, however, that these six states have in common: a regulatory commission that is responsible for overseeing electricity prices and other utility regulations.

California

California has one of the nation's more complex electricity markets. It deregulated its electricity market in 1996, becoming the first state to do so. ¹⁹ However, after the California energy crisis of 2000—when Enron and other companies intentionally took generation offline to artificially inflate electricity prices, causing rolling blackouts throughout the state ²⁰—California halted its deregulation process. In 2009, the California Legislature passed S.B. 695, which allows a limited number of nonresidential customers to purchase electricity directly from an electric service provider. ²¹ Today, the program, known as Direct Access, is at capacity, and there is a waiting list of companies and institutions that would like to be able to choose their electricity supplier, either to get a lower electricity rate or to achieve other goals, such as meeting their electricity needs with renewable energy resources.

California has six investor-owned utilities, 46 municipal utilities, four rural electric cooperatives, and three community choice aggregators.²² There are also 15 registered electric service providers that supply electricity to customers that are part of the Direct Access program.²³ The California Independent System Operator manages electricity flow for about 80 percent of the state, as well as a small part of Nevada; in the other 20 percent of the state, electricity flow is managed by utilities directly.²⁴

California's regulatory commission, the California Public Utilities Commission, was initially established through an amendment to the state constitution passed in 1911.²⁵ Today, five commissioners serve on the California Public Utilities Commission. They are appointed by the governor and approved by the state Senate and serve for staggered six-year terms.²⁶

Colorado

In Colorado, natural gas is deregulated, but electricity is not. However, the state has a mix of electric utility models, including some that generate a significant portion of their power and others that purchase power from wholesale power providers or independent power producers.

Colorado has two investor-owned utilities, 29 municipal utilities, and 22 rural electric cooperatives. Two of these utilities—Xcel Energy, an investor-owned utility, and Colorado Springs Utilities, a municipal utility—are vertically integrated. The rest get their power primarily from wholesale power providers and independent power producers. These independent power producers must sell to the utilities, rather than directly to retail consumers, because electricity is not deregulated in Colorado. The state does not have an independent system operator or regional transmission organization, so utilities are responsible for balancing power flow.

Colorado's regulatory commission, the Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies' Public Utilities Commission, is more than 100 years old, created in 1913. Three commissioners, appointed by the governor and confirmed by the state Senate, serve four-year terms.²⁹ The commission currently regulates only the two investor-owned utilities. Colorado's rural electric cooperatives asked the Colorado Legislature for commission regulation in 1961 and were awarded it, but then asked for an end to that regulation in 1983 and were also awarded that reversal.³⁰

Hawaii

Hawaii's regulatory commission actually precedes Hawaiian statehood—the Hawaii Public Utilities Commission was established in 1913.³¹ However, the structure of the commission has changed many times. In 1959, the new state constitution consolidated the number of departments in the state's executive branch, and the commission lost

some of its previous autonomy.³² However, legislation passed in 2014 gave the commission increased decision-making authority. In 1976, the commission switched to having three full-time commissioners, based at the main office in Oahu, with Hawaii Public Utilities Commission assistant positions in district offices in Kauai, Maui, and Hawaii.³³

Hawaii has four electric utilities. There are three investor-owned utilities, which together serve about 95 percent of the state's population: Hawaii Electric Light Co., which serves the island of Hawaii; Hawaiian Electric Co., serving Oahu; and Maui Electric Co., which serves Maui, Lanai, and Molokai. These three companies are all subsidiaries of a single parent company, Hawaii Electric Industries. The remaining 5 percent of the state's population is served by a distribution electric cooperative, Kauai Island Utility Cooperative, which serves the island of Kauai. Unlike many states where the regulatory commission only regulates investor-owned utilities, the Hawaii Public Utilities Commission regulates all four of the state's electric utilities.³⁴

Hawaii's electricity market is not restructured—meaning customers can only get electricity from their utilities—and the four electric utilities are vertically integrated. In addition to owning their own generation, the three investor-owned utilities also source from independent power producers. Hawaii does not have an independent system operator, and utilities are responsible for balancing power supply and demand.³⁵ Recently, Hawaii has been studying alternative electric utility ownership models. Maui commissioned a report on "alternatives to the investor-owned utility business model," which concluded that:

The ideal path forward to meet the County's objectives is to organize, develop and enable a private entity akin to an Independent System Operator (ISO) or Regional Transmission Operator (RTO) to oversee the electric grid and energy market while ensuring a reliable power supply, adequate transmission infrastructure, competitive wholesale prices and fair access for renewable power.³⁶

The rationale for this conclusion was that not many assets would have to change ownership, it could be implemented quickly, and it would provide "clear price signals and market transparency so that power producers of all types can make rational economic decisions." It also concluded that the second-best choice would be to have an electric cooperative take over some or all of Maui Electric Co.'s assets. Another study focused on the islands of Oahu and Hawaii did not consider an independent system operator but specifically focused on different utility ownership models. The study discussed some of the benefits and drawbacks of investor-owned, publicly owned, and cooperatively owned utilities; reviewed legal and process considerations for creating a new utility; and recommended additional steps for the state—including financial and legal analyses—as it considers the future of its utilities.³⁹

Massachusetts

Massachusetts has a deregulated electricity market. It has three investor-owned utilities, all of which are distribution-only; two of them—Eversource Energy and National Grid—cover most of the state.⁴⁰ There are also 41 municipal utilities,⁴¹ which are vertically integrated and operate their own municipal light plants. 42 Many state regulations that apply to the investor-owned utilities do not apply to the municipal utilities. Massachusetts is part of the territory of New England's independent system operator, ISO New England, a nonprofit organization that manages electricity flow across the six New England states.⁴³

Massachusetts' first energy regulator opened its doors in 1885. 44 Today, the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities (DPU) has three commissioners, appointed by the governor and confirmed by the commonwealth Senate, serving four-year terms. Two of the three commissioners serve a term coterminous with the governor, and one of the commissioners serves a four-year term that is not in line with the governor's term. No more than two of the commissioners can be from the same political party.⁴⁵

Minnesota

Like Hawaii and Colorado, Minnesota has not deregulated its electricity market. Its five major investor-owned utilities are vertically integrated. Separate from the investor-owned utilities, six municipal power agencies supply 126 distribution municipal utilities with generation and transmission services. The state also has six rural electric associations that handle both generation and transmission and 45 that are distribution-only. 46 Minnesota falls under the Midcontinent Independent System Operator, a nonprofit that manages generation and transmission across parts of 15 U.S. states and part of Canada.⁴⁷

Minnesota's regulatory commission is the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission. Compared with the other states in this report, the commission's tenure in the state is relatively short: In 1975, Minnesota became the 48th state to start regulating electric utility company rates. As recently as 2005, the Minnesota Legislature granted additional functions to the commission, including siting, routing, and permitting of large generating plants. 48

New York

New York is a premier example of a deregulated electricity market. Rather than utilities having a monopoly on generating and supplying electricity to their customers, there is a competitive electricity supply market; utilities are required to allow customers to shop for electricity from energy service companies. For customers who do not choose to shop for an electricity provider, utilities continue to offer a default service.⁴⁹

There are six large investor-owned utilities, one large municipal utility—Long Island Power Authority—and 41 small municipal utilities. 50 The New York Independent System Operator (NYISO) is responsible for coordinating the flow of electricity across the state's transmission system.

The New York Public Service Commission, established in 1907, regulates all of the state's utilities.⁵¹ The commission consists of up to five members, each appointed by the governor and confirmed by the New York Senate for a term of six years and has been bipartisan by law since 1970. The New York State Energy Research and Development Authority and the Power Authority of the State of New York also play critical roles in grid regulation, reliability, and modernization.

Overarching regulatory initiatives: Leading from states' executive branches

There are a variety of ways that states can approach electricity sector reform. Below are two examples of states that have pursued broad electricity grid reform and modernization primarily through their executive branches: New York's Reforming the Energy Vision⁵² and Massachusetts' grid modernization plan.⁵³ These two cases highlight some of the opportunities and drawbacks of pursuing broad sector reforms through regulation as opposed to through legislation. In particular, reforms driven by regulation have the benefit of removing some of the political concerns of reforms that initiate in a state's legislature. The state's executive or regulatory commission has more freedom to pursue a particular vision or set of goals for the electricity sector, without needing to get the votes of a majority of the legislature. This can allow the executive branch to pursue particularly strong and forward-looking reforms, as seen in New York. However, the associated challenge is that this can also make regulations more easily subject to being overturned, as seen in Massachusetts.

New York's Reforming the Energy Vision

After Superstorm Sandy in 2012 led to 43 deaths, \$19 billion in damage, and nearly 2 million people losing power at some point during the storm, 54 New York Gov. Andrew Cuomo (D) set out to strengthen and modernize the state's energy system.⁵⁵ In 2014, the governor announced his plan: a broad executive branch initiative called Reforming the Energy Vision (REV).⁵⁶ The chair of the New York State Public Service Commission, Audrey Zibelman, described the ambition of the initiative:

The existing ratemaking structure falls far short of the pace of technology development that defines many parts of our economy. By fundamentally restructuring the way utilities and energy companies sell electricity, New York can maximize the utilization of resources, and reduce the need for new infrastructure through expanded demand management, energy efficiency, renewable energy, distributed generation, and energy storage programs.⁵⁷

The specific goals of REV are:

- Making energy more affordable for all New Yorkers
- Building a more resilient energy system
- Empowering New Yorkers to make more informed energy choices
- Creating new jobs and business opportunities
- Improving our existing initiatives and infrastructure
- Supporting cleaner transportation
- Cutting greenhouse gas emissions 80% by 2050
- Protecting New York's natural resources
- Helping clean energy innovation grow⁵⁸

Gov. Cuomo tasked several New York state agencies with working together to implement REV, including the New York State Public Service Commission, the New York State Energy Research and Development Authority, the New York Power Authority, and the Long Island Power Authority.⁵⁹ Among these, the role of the commission has been particularly critical.

In conjunction with the governor's announcement of REV in 2014, the New York State Public Service Commission issued a report, "Reforming the Energy Vision: DPS Staff Report and Proposal," which described the basic elements of the program that would allow New York to achieve the above goals. 60 One of the key elements is the creation of a distributed system platform provider, the goals of which include creating a "flexible platform for new energy products and services"; incorporating distributed energy resources into planning; creating new systems to monetize behind-the-meter resources; and serving as the interface for retail customers.⁶¹ The initial commission report also discussed the need for "a more outcome-based approach to ratemaking designed to encourage utility long term planning that optimizes investments and leads to lower customer bills."62 The commission also issued an order instituting a proceeding on April 25, 2014. The proceeding was separated into two tracks: Track One focused on how to develop distributed resource markets, and Track Two focused on ratemaking.⁶³

In February 2015, the commission issued an "Order Adopting Regulatory Policy Framework and Implementation Plan,"64 which addressed the Track One issues by laying out specific implementation plans for distributed resources markets. Notably, it said that utilities would serve as the distributed system platform providers, with each utility serving as the interface for its customers so that altogether, the utilities across the state would "constitute a statewide platform that will provide uniform market access to customers and DER [distributed energy resource] providers."65

A few months later, the commission issued an "Order Adopting a Ratemaking and Utility Revenue Model Policy Framework," detailing Track Two. 66 This order laid out a radical reformation of the way utilities are compensated by creating new avenues for utilities to earn revenue beyond the traditional fee-for-service model.⁶⁷ The new earning opportunities that the commission described include revenues for providing the platform service created by REV; opportunities to earn revenue for meeting specific targets for system efficiency, energy efficiency, customer engagement, interconnection, and affordability; and revenues associated with reducing the cost of reaching clean energy targets.⁶⁸ As of this writing, New York's six major investor-owned utilities are implementing several projects intended to demonstrate new business models associated with various aspects of REV.⁶⁹

Both the goals and process of New York's REV initiative are instructive. First, the goals of changing the way utilities are compensated in order to better align compensation with desired outcomes and changing the electricity marketplace so as to encourage more distributed energy resources put New York at the forefront of rethinking the role of electric utilities: how they operate, how they are regulated, and how policymakers can ensure they are best serving customers' interests. The specific regulations laid out by the New York State Public Service Commission are worth closer examination by any policymaker considering these questions.

Second, the process is instructive in that the vision has been set by the governor, with detailed technical regulations and implementation plans provided by the commission and other New York State agencies. As such, REV is a model for those looking at how to drive electricity reform primarily from a state's executive branch.

Massachusetts DPU's grid modernization plan

Massachusetts' grid modernization plan has some similarities, particularly at the outset of the process, to New York's REV. However, it also demonstrates some of the drawbacks of electricity reform driven solely by the executive branch, rather than through the state legislature, and implemented through regulation—particularly when there is a party change in the executive branch.

In 2012, the Massachusetts DPU initiated a proceeding on grid modernization. The purpose of the proceeding was to investigate policies that would "ensure that electric distribution companies adopt grid modernization technologies and practices to enhance the reliability of electricity service, reduce costs of operating the electric grid, mitigate price increases and volatility for customers, and empower customers to adopt new electricity technologies and better manage their use of electricity."⁷⁰ In 2014, the DPU issued several orders that collectively took a significant step toward grid modernization. These included: an order requiring Massachusetts' electric utilities to file 10-year grid modernization plans by August 2015; an order revising how distribution companies can earn incentives for energy efficiency; and an order on time-varying rates that laid out a proposal for default basic service to include peak and off-peak hours.⁷¹

The two major utilities, Eversource and National Grid, did submit their modernization plans in 2015. However, their plans were significantly different from one another, posing a challenge for implementation. While the DPU could have picked one of their approaches and chosen to move forward with it, another significant development occurred between the DPU's 2014 modernization order and the submission of the utilities' plans: The governor's office changed hands from Democratic Gov. Deval Patrick to Republican Gov. Charlie Baker in 2015. Under the Baker administration, the DPU has not prioritized the modernization initiative begun under Patrick's, and implementation of the modernization plan stalled.⁷²

In January 2018, the DPU issued an order that backtracked on some of the modernization plan's initial goals: It eliminated time-of-use pricing and instituted a new demand charge for residential solar projects.⁷³ Here, the timing of the commissioner's terms, as described above, may be a relevant factor. Two of the three commissioners serve a term coterminous with the governor;⁷⁴ thus, these two, including the chair, began their terms in January 2015. The third commissioner, whose term is not coterminous, was appointed in June 2017.75

In designing the structure of the commission, there is necessarily a trade-off between continuity of commissioners and allowing a new administration to appoint people who will implement its vision if it differs from that of the previous administration. The setup of the commission in Massachusetts favors allowing a new administration to appoint its own people but does keep an element of consistency with one offset term. Nonetheless, by halfway through a governor's term, they will have had the chance to appoint all three commissioners. The policy direction of the DPU can therefore change significantly, which has both advantages and disadvantages. In this case, it has had the effect of slowing, and to some extent reversing, the previous administration's grid modernization efforts.

Overarching legislative initiatives: Leading from states' legislatures

One solution to the problem of shifts in policy that accompany a new administration is instituting policies through legislation rather than solely through regulatory measures. While legislation can also be repealed, it tends to be stickier, or less easily overturned. Repealing a piece of legislation requires a larger number of elected officials, while rolling back regulatory decisions can be initiated solely by the governor. Perhaps for this reason, many of the cutting-edge reforms that have been implemented in the six states considered in this report have either begun with or been institutionalized through legislation. There are numerous examples of legislation that have pushed utilities and regulatory commissions to develop broad modernization plans, including Minnesota's 2015 grid modernization legislation⁷⁶ and New York's 2009 legislation requiring a state energy plan.⁷⁷ Many of these states have also passed legislation on climate change and emissions reduction, which affects the electricity system. 78 Below is additional information about how legislation in California has shaped the path the state has taken to date, and how legislation in Hawaii has the potential to shape the path it will take moving forward.

California: A history of proactive legislation

The California Legislature has taken an active role in shaping the state's electricity grid, particularly with regard to reducing emissions. California's first legislation that directly dealt with greenhouse gas emissions was passed in 1988.79 It required the California Energy Commission to create an inventory of greenhouse gas emissions and study the effects of those emissions on the state. In 2002, S.B. 1078 created the California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program and required utilities to procure 20 percent of their power from renewable sources by 2017.80 In 2006, California passed several pieces of legislation that have had the effect of making California's grid one of the cleanest in the country today: A.B. 32, or the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006, 81 required the California Air Resources Board to reduce statewide greenhouse gas emissions to 1990 levels by 2020—leading to California's cap-and-trade program,

which began in 2012.82 S.B. 1368 directed the California Energy Commission and the California Public Utilities Commission to set emissions performance standards for baseload power plants.⁸³ Finally, S.B. 107 increased the ambition of the state's RPS, directing the California Public Utilities Commission to hit the target of 20 percent renewable electricity generation by 2010.84

The effects of these pieces of legislation are clear: Since 2006, California has significantly reduced its use of coal for electricity; 85 greenhouse gas emissions have been declining since 2007, even while the state's gross domestic product has increased significantly; 86 and in 2017, 41 percent of the state's electricity generation came from solar, hydro, wind, and geothermal energy.⁸⁷ In recent years, California has continued to set forward-looking targets. S.B. 32, passed in 2016, set a target of reducing greenhouse gas emissions to 40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030,88 and in 2017, A.B. 398 extended California's cap-and-trade program.⁸⁹

While the California Legislature has taken a particularly active role, it is worth noting that it does not operate in a silo: All of the legislation it passed was supported by the executive branch, and the bills above have been signed by both Democratic and Republican governors, including Republican Govs. George Deukmejian and Arnold Schwarzenegger and Democratic Govs. Gray Davis and Jerry Brown. Furthermore, while these pieces of legislation set aggressive goals, they rely on the capability of the California Public Utilities Commission, the California Air Resources Board, the California Energy Commission, and other agencies to execute it effectively.

Hawaii: Shaping the electricity grid of the future

In April of this year, the Hawaii Legislature passed a bill that may serve as an example for the future of utility regulation. Known as the Ratepayer Protection Act, or S.B. 2939, it directs Hawaii's Public Utilities Commission to establish financial incentives and penalties for utilities based on meeting certain targets—that is, tying utility revenues to performance. While the specific metrics and associated revenues will be determined by the Public Utilities Commission, the legislation lays out performance metrics that the commission should consider in establishing its framework, including affordability, reliability, integration of renewables, data availability, and customer options and satisfaction. Hawaii's Public Utilities Commission is required to establish the new framework by January 1, 2020. While other states have used performance-based regulation of utilities in limited ways, this is the first legislation to require performance-based regulation at this scale. If successful, it could serve as a model for utility regulation in other states.

Hawaii is also one of only a few states to have a climate adaptation policy. In 2012, the Hawaii Legislature passed Act 286,91 which adds 10 climate-change adaptation priority guidelines to the State Planning Act, thus requiring that climate change adaptation be considered in state planning decisions such as budgets and land use. 92 While climate adaptation is somewhat tangential to electricity regulation, it is relevant particularly as states look to make their electricity systems more resilient to catastrophic weather that is likely to increase in frequency and severity as the climate changes.

Emissions and renewables

The six states highlighted in this report all share a commitment to reducing emissions from their electricity sectors. Their legislatures, executive branches, and even voters have been looking ahead by recognizing both the need to reduce the carbon emissions that drive climate change and the economic and public health benefits of incorporating more renewable energy into their electricity portfolios. Many of these states also have been the first to take particular steps or set particular goals to reduce emissions. As a result, the emissions profile of several of these states—particularly California, New York, and Massachusetts—is much lower than the national average.

TABLE 1 State greenhouse gas emissions from power plants, 2016

2016 emissions (million metric tons CO2 equivalent)2016 state population (millionCalifornia36.739.0Colorado36.85.5Hawaii7.01.4Massachusetts10.96.8Minnesota28.65.5	on (metric tons CO2
Colorado 36.8 5.5 Hawaii 7.0 1.4 Massachusetts 10.9 6.8	
Hawaii 7.0 1.4 Massachusetts 10.9 6.8	0.9
Massachusetts 10.9 6.8	6.7
	4.9
Minnesota 28.6 5.5	1.6
	5.1
New York 29.9 20.0	1.5
Puerto Rico 13.0 3.4	3.8
U.S. total 1,876.0 323.0	5.8

Sources: CO2 equivalent reflects all greenhouse gases emitted from power plants. See Environmental Protection Agency, "Facility Level Information on GreenHouse gases Tool: 2016 Green House Gas Emissions from Large Facilities," available at https://ghgdata.epa.gov/ghgp/main.do# (last accessed September 2018); U.S. Census Bureau, "Annual Estimates of the Resident Population for the United States, Regions, States, and Puerto Rico: April 1, 2010 $to \ July \ 1, 2017 \ (NST-EST2017-01), "available at \ https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2017/demo/popest/state-total.html (last accessed September 2018).$ As seen in Table 1, five of the six states discussed in this report have lower per capita emissions than the U.S. average. While Hawaii has lower-than-average emissions and some of the most ambitious goals for renewables in the country, its emissions have historically been higher than states with similarly ambitious goals—such as California and New York—because of its reliance on petroleum for electricity generation. 93 Colorado is the one state out of these six with higher-than-average emissions: While it has a strong RPS and ranks 10th nationwide in wind-power generating capacity and 11th in solar generation, it generates a significant amount of its electricity from coal, much of which is mined in the state. 94 While Puerto Rico has lower electricity-sector emissions per capita than the average U.S. state, this is primarily driven by its lower per capita electricity consumption, which is about half the U.S. average and lower than Hawaii's per capita consumption—the lowest of the 50 states.95

Setting standards via legislation, executive action, and voter initiatives

Hawaii, California, New York, Minnesota, and Massachusetts have all set—and frequently updated—their RPS via their state legislatures.

Hawaii was the first state to set a goal of getting 100 percent of its electricity from renewable sources: In 2015, the Hawaii Legislature passed H.B. 623, which set a RPS of 100 percent by 2045. This bill was preceded by a series of bills from the Hawaii Legislature that set and gradually increased Hawaii's targets for renewable electricity generation, beginning with Hawaii's first legally binding RPS passed by the Legislature in 2004.⁹⁷

California also has a history of clean energy standards driven by the California Legislature; in fact, the state recently passed one of the most aggressive clean energy standards in the country. S.B. 100, passed in August 2018, requires renewable energy and zero-carbon energy to supply 100 percent of California's retail electricity sales by 2045. The legislation includes intermediate targets of 50 percent renewables by 2026 and 60 percent renewables by 2030.98 Some electricity in 2045 may be supplied from sources that are carbon-free but not renewable.

By contrast, Colorado had the nation's first renewable energy standard passed by a voter ballot initiative: The Colorado Renewable Energy Requirement Initiative, or Amendment 37, passed in 2004.99 Since 2004, the Colorado Legislature has increased Colorado's renewable energy targets; today, investor-owned utilities have a goal of getting 30 percent of their electricity for retail sales from renewable sources by 2020.¹⁰⁰

New York has taken yet another approach, with renewable energy goals driven primarily by the state's executive branch. In 2004, the New York State Public Service Commission approved the state's first RPS and increased the goal in 2010. 101 In 2015, the RPS expired but was replaced with a clean energy standard, which further increased the goal. 102 As described above, the governor and the commission have led the state's REV process to encourage further deployment of renewables.

TABLE 2 Comparative ambition of renewable portfolio standards

End goals of states' standards set to date

California	60% renewables by 2030, plus 100% carbon-free energy, including nonrenewable zero-carbon energy, by 2045
Colorado	30% by 2020 (applies to investor-owned utilities)
Hawaii	100% by 2045
Massachusetts	15% by 2020 for Class I renewables installed after 1997; additional incentives for renewables installed before 1998
Minnesota	31.5% by 2020 for Xcel Energy, 26.5% by 2025 for other investor-owned utilities, 25% by 2025 for all other electric utilities
New York	50% by 2030
Puerto Rico	20% by 2035

Sources: Alexei Koseff, "California approves goal for 100% carbon-free electricity by 2045," The Sacramento Bee, September 10, 2018, available at https://www.sacbee.com/news/politics-government/capitol-alert/article218128485.html; Hawaii State Energy Office, "Securing the Renewable Future," available at http://energy.hawaii.gov/renewable-energy (last accessed September 2018); Database of State Incentives for Renewables and Efficiency, "Renewable Portfolio Standard: Massachusetts," available at http://programs.dsireusa.org/system/program/detail/479 (last accessed September 2018); Database of State Incentives for Renewables and Efficiency, "Renewable Energy Standard: Minnesota," available at http://programs. dsireusa.org/system/program/detail/2401 (last accessed September 2018); New York State Energy Research and Development Authority, "Clean Energy Standard," available at https://www.nyserda.ny.gov/All-Programs/Programs/Clean-Energy-Standard (last accessed September 2018); U.S. Department of Energy, "Puerto Rico - Renewable Energy Portfolio Standard," available at https://www.energy.gov/savings/puerto-rico-renewableenergy-portfolio-standard (last accessed September 2018)

Meeting emissions and renewable goals: The role of public utilities commissions

These states have generally been successful at achieving their RPS goals. Minnesota's utilities, for example, have been on track with intermediate steps along the way to reach the goal of 25 percent renewable energy. In fact, Minnesota Power met the requirement of 25 percent renewable energy in 2014, more than 10 years before that level was required. 103

When utilities achieve RPS goals sooner than required, the reason is often economics: Wind power is widely available in Minnesota and thus accounts for more than 15 percent of Minnesota's electricity. 104 However, these states' regulatory commissions have also played a significant role in ensuring that utilities meet RPS goals. By including emissions reduction as a requirement in public utilities commissions' charters, states

help ensure that their utilities achieve goals for renewables deployment. For example, the Hawaii Public Utilities Commission is required by law to consider "the need to reduce the State's reliance on fossil fuels through energy efficiency and increased renewable energy generation in exercising its authority and duties." ¹⁰⁵

A state's public utilities commission often plays a critical role in requiring utilities to meet the standards that are set by legislatures or voters. Hawaii's commission can prescribe how much of each type of renewable resource each of the four utilities should be using to meet the goals of the RPS. It can also assess penalties on the electric utilities if they fail to meet these goals and requirements. 106

California's commission is charged with requiring all retail sellers to procure a specified percentage of renewable energy resources, in line with RPS goals; in fact, the commission can even choose to require utilities to procure renewable energy in excess of the RPS goals. 107 The commission furthermore has the authority to assess penalties on retail sellers who are not in compliance with renewable procurement requirements. 108

Emissions reduction through energy efficiency

One of the ways states can pass on the benefits of emissions reduction to consumers is by incentivizing, or directly investing in, energy efficiency.

Some states do this by instituting energy efficiency targets—either efficiency improvement targets or spending targets—for their utilities. In Minnesota, electric utilities must invest at least 1.5 percent of their gross operating revenues on Conservation Improvement Programs each year. 109

Hawaii has an energy efficiency auction where applicants can submit their residential or commercial energy efficiency projects and get paid an incentive from Hawaii Energy, a ratepayer-funded conservation and efficiency program, if they are selected in the auction. 110 The applicants are typically companies submitting projects that will have benefits for residents and small businesses.¹¹¹ California has an Efficiency Savings and Performance Incentive mechanism, which provides performance awards to investor-owned utilities for energy efficiency programs with demonstrated energy savings, and which will also award an incentive for utilities to conduct programs such as energy efficiency marketing and training. 112

In 2010, Colorado passed legislation that enabled property-assessed clean energy (PACE) programs. Today, its C-PACE program—Commercial Property Assessed Clean Energy—allows commercial- and multifamily-property owners to finance qualifying clean energy and energy efficiency projects through a special assessment on their property tax bill. 113

Regional approaches

New York and Massachusetts are both part of the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI), a cooperative effort among nine states to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. RGGI is a market-based program in which power generators hold a limited number of allowances to emit carbon dioxide. Power generators can buy these allowances at regional auctions and can resell them on secondary markets. This program—and these allowances—are how RGGI states collectively keep emissions under a specified cap.¹¹⁴ Because the overall cap declines every year, states are encouraged to reduce emissions as the allowances become scarcer.

Affordability

Keeping energy costs low is important for business competitiveness and for families' and individuals' quality of life. Low-income households spend on average three times more on their energy bills, as a share of income, than do high-income households. 115 There are multiple tools states can use to ensure affordable electricity, including through regulatory commission rate cases, utility incentives, time-of-use pricing, and direct aid to low-income households.

TABLE 3 Electricity prices, in cents per kilowatt-hour

	Residential		Commercial		Industrial		All sectors	
	Jun-17	Jun-18	Jun-17	Jun-18	Jun-17	Jun-18	Jun-17	Jun-18
U.S. average	13.21	13.02	11.00	10.82	7.22	7.18	10.87	10.78
California	19.39	19.90	17.32	17.81	15.06	14.73	17.55	17.82
Colorado	12.75	12.28	10.72	10.78	7.61	7.52	10.57	10.41
Hawaii	30.45	32.76	26.95	29.56	23.03	25.56	26.37	28.88
Massachusetts	18.56	21.11	15.07	16.35	13.56	14.45	16.09	17.76
Minnesota	13.96	14.09	11.21	11.26	8.15	8.07	11.11	11.23
New York	18.76	19.30	15.98	15.11	6.12	5.98	15.70	15.47
Puerto Rico	19.63	21.24	21.18	22.46	17.91	19.23	20.16	21.47

Source: U.S. Energy Information Administration, Electric Power Monthly with Data for June 2018 (U.S. Department of Energy, 2018), available at https://www.eia.gov/electricity/monthly/current_month/epm.pdf.

Affordability as part of the regulatory commission mandate

Since the primary function of the regulatory commission in most states is to set the electricity rates that utilities can charge, keeping electricity costs low is a common mandate for these commissions: The regulatory commission must maintain affordability as it pursues any of its other goals. For example, the grid modernization efforts undertaken by Minnesota and Massachusetts explicitly state that they seek to modernize the grid while maintaining affordability. 116

Massachusetts provides a good example of how the regulatory commission sets rates, with affordability as a chief concern, in a state with a restructured electricity market. The Massachusetts DPU sets average monthly electricity rates. While customers are able to competitively choose their electricity supplier, the utilities are responsible for establishing default rates for customers who do not choose a supplier. The utilities establish default rates based on competitive bidding, but these rates cannot exceed the average monthly rate set by the DPU. Thus, even in an environment where bidding is supposed to drive down costs, the DPU rates are an additional affordability lever. 117

Some states further segment the functions of the regulatory commission so that there is a branch that specifically advocates on behalf of ratepayers. For example, within the California Public Utilities Commission, the Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA) is an independent arm with a specific mission to "obtain the lowest possible rate for service consistent with reliable and safe service levels." 118 With this aim, the ORA participates in commission proceedings and other forums that could have a significant financial impact on customers. 119

Incentivizing utilities to keep costs down

One of the critiques of the traditional model of cost-of-service regulation of utilities is that if rates are structured such that utilities are paid for their costs plus a return on investment, they have no incentive to keep costs down. ¹²⁰ A regulatory commission can help solve this problem by capping rates, but there is growing interest in other ways to incentivize utilities to reduce their costs and, by extension, consumer electricity prices. Hawaii's Ratepayer Protection Act of 2018, discussed previously in this report, is a cutting-edge example of changing how utilities are incentivized.

Additionally, some elements of how the California Public Utilities Commission conducts ratemaking give utilities incentives to keep costs down. In California, the general rate cases are on multiyear cycles: Authorized revenue for each year is determined in advance. If a utility has cost overruns, it will earn less than the authorized rate of return; if it is able to reduce costs, it will earn more. 121 The utility, rather than customers, keeps these savings in the short run, but in the long run—when rates are being set at the next general rate case—customers can benefit from lower rates because the commission will see these savings when they begin their next rate case and set prices accordingly.

As part of the REV initiative, New York's Public Service Commission is reconsidering cost-of-service ratemaking, as it says it "inhibits innovation in general, and discourages numerous activities that utilities need to undertake to implement REV."122

Affordability and time-of-use pricing

Time-of-use pricing is another approach to reducing customer electricity costs, though it is not yet widely used. Under time-of-use pricing, customers pay more for electricity consumed during the times of day with highest demand and less during off-peak hours. It creates the potential for consumers to save money by choosing, for example, to run appliances such as dishwashers and laundry machines outside of peak hours. However, in order to take advantage of it—and not inadvertently end up with even higher electricity bills—customers need to be well-informed and understand how usage hours will affect their bill. Time-of-use pricing also presupposes a level of control over electricity-use scheduling that may be out of reach for some families. Nonetheless, it is worth examination, because in addition to the potential cost savings for consumers, it has other benefits: By incentivizing load shifting, it can reduce the need to build expensive peak-demand plants, which in turn reduces costs for all consumers and can have additional environmental benefits, as those peak-demand plants are usually powered by fossil fuels. 123

In New York, utilities offer voluntary time-of-use pricing, though only a small number of customers opt into it. 124 There is, however, interest in expanding the program to reduce the impact of electric vehicles on the power grid by making it attractive for electric vehicle owners to start charging their cars later in the evening. Two options for this are encouraging electric vehicle owners to opt in to "whole-house" time-of-use pricing, in which rates charged by utilities for all of the house's electricity use vary throughout the day—thus allowing electric vehicle owners to charge when rates are lower—or maintaining standard rates that don't vary by time of day but instead offering rebates for off-peak electric vehicle charging. 125

The California Public Utilities Commission has decided to transition residential customers to time-of-use pricing starting in 2019 and has asked utilities to submit their strategies to do so. Some of the state's major utilities have asked to delay implementation by one or two years, 126 while others are moving forward with implementation. 127

Programs to assist customers directly

Aside from controlling electricity costs through regulatory commission ratemaking and incentivizing utilities to keep costs down, some states find it necessary or desirable to more directly provide assistance to low-income residents facing a high energy burden. Massachusetts has a special low-income electricity tariff for income-qualified customers.¹²⁸ Colorado has a bill payment assistance program for customers who are behind on their electricity bills and meet certain income qualifications. 129

New York's Energy Affordability Policy limits energy costs for low-income residents to no more than 6 percent of household income, ¹³⁰ and Minnesota's Customer Affordability of Residential Electricity program gives low-income households a discount on their monthly electricity bills. 131

Programs that incentivize energy efficiency can improve affordability for customers while supporting the state's emissions reduction goals. For example, Colorado's Affordable Residual Energy program provides free energy-efficiency upgrades including equipment replacement—for customers who meet the program's income qualifications.132

The challenge of island affordability

Hawaii faces the highest electricity prices in the country—higher, even, than in Puerto Rico. In both Hawaii and Puerto Rico, the cost of electricity is largely driven by imported fossil energy used to fuel their power plants. 133 As described above, Hawaii has a goal of getting to 100 percent renewable electricity generation by 2045, which would drastically reduce its need to import fossil fuels. Currently, however, Hawaii's largest fuel source for electricity generation is petroleum, followed by coal. 134

As Hawaii moves away from imported coal and petroleum and implements its new Ratepayer Protection Act, its electricity costs should decrease. In the meantime, though, Hawaii has a few programs to help residents lower their electricity bills. One of these is the Green Energy Money \$aver (GEM\$) On-Bill Program, which is an innovative financing program available to both homeowners and renters that combines affordability and renewable energy deployment goals. 135 Under the program, customers submit an application to the Hawaii Green Infrastructure Authority (HGIA) to undertake certain energy improvement projects, including a solar photovoltaic system; solar photovoltaic or solar thermal water heating; or a heat pump water heater. If approved, the HGIA will pay a GEM\$-approved contractor for the installation, and the customer immediately begins to see bill savings; one of the requirements for project approval is that the energy improvement project provides a minimum of 10 percent utility bill savings for the customer. ¹³⁶ Finally, for customers on life support, Hawaii has a Special Medical Needs program, offering a reduced kilowatt-hour electricity rate. 137

Reliability

Reliability is a key performance metric for any utility system: When a customer flips a switch, they should be able to count on the lights turning on. While most states in the Lower 48 look to a national nonprofit corporation, the North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC), for their reliability standards, states that have dealt with severe weather, such as New York, have added increased standards on top of NERC's guidelines, and states outside the continental United States, such as Hawaii, have to chart their own path on reliability.

NERC reliability standards

For most states, NERC is the starting place for reliability standards. NERC standards are enforceable in the continental United States, as well as in parts of Canada and Mexico. 138 It is responsible for developing reliability standards and submitting them to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) for approval. Once approved, those standards become mandatory. 139

The monitoring and enforcement of NERC standards is carried out by eight regional entities.¹⁴⁰ For example, the Midwest Reliability Organization, under which Minnesota falls, is responsible for ensuring compliance with mandatory standards in the states under its jurisdiction. It also conducts assessments to ensure that the grid is able to meet the region's electricity demands. 141

Because of NERC's broad reach and authority, state agencies with responsibility for reliability will often partner with NERC. For example, the California Public Utilities Commission has worked with NERC and FERC on the mandatory reliability standards process.142

Going beyond NERC

In addition to working with NERC and its regional organizations, a few states also set their own reliability goals. The New York State Reliability Council (NYSRC) has a mission to "promote and preserve the reliability of electric service on the NYS Power System within New York State." 143 To this end, the NYSRC develops and maintains reliability rules with which the NYISO and all entities engaging with the New York state power system must comply.¹⁴⁴ NYSRC rules are generally more stringent than NERC standards.¹⁴⁵

Independent system operators can also assist with developing and enforcing reliability standards. ISO New England, under which Massachusetts falls, has a dedicated Reliability and Operations Compliance group. The group primarily relies on NERC to set standards but makes sure those standards are implemented and integrated throughout ISO New England. 146

California has also experimented with targeted incentives to encourage utilities to improve reliability. As described in a 2015 report on incentive-based ratemaking by the Brattle Group:

In the 2012 rate case for San Diego Gas and Electric, the CPUC [California Public Utilities Commission adopted performance incentives for the length of interruptions (SAIDI and SAIDET), the number of interruptions (SAIFI) and providing customers with an accurate estimated restoration time (ERT). Under these measures, a target level of performance is set on each of the four reliability measures. If the utility performs better than the target, it is able to collect a 'reward,' and if it misses the target, it is penalized. In addition to defining the targets and a formula for calculating the rewards/penalties, the CPUC also determined an overall 'cap' on the maximum amount of penalty and reward that could apply in each year.¹⁴⁷

Hawaii: Reliability standards outside of NERC

Hawaii is not required to adhere to NERC reliability standards because it lies outside the continental United States. For many years, Hawaii's utilities operated with internal reliability practices, but without formal standards imposed by its public utilities commission.

In 2010, the commission decided to establish a Reliability Standards Working Group (RSWG),148 and in 2012, the Hawaii Legislature passed S.B. 2787, which authorized the commission to develop and enforce reliability standards. 149 In 2013, the RSWG published its recommendations in a report. 150 The Reliability Standards Drafting subgroup of the RSWG used NERC reliability standards as a starting point and then developed their own standards that encompass the issues addressed by NERC. 151 In 2014, the commission opened a new docket focused on further evaluation and final approval of the recommended standards. 152 Currently, adopting the rules and standards recommended by the RSWG is the first step in the Hawaii State Energy Office's grid modernization strategy.¹⁵³

Best practices, lessons, and recommendations for Puerto Rico

The current discussions in Puerto Rico about the future of its electric utility, PREPA, and its regulatory commission, PREC, make this an opportune time to examine best practices in other states and use these lessons to create regulatory structures that will enable Puerto Rico to provide clean, reliable, and affordable electricity to its residents. The following recommendations draw lessons from the states reviewed in this report and apply them to Puerto Rico's situation. A handful of policies—in particular, maintaining an independent and empowered regulatory commission, investing in low-cost clean energy sources, structuring utility incentives to be in line with policy goals, and creating and enforcing reliability standards—have the potential to transform Puerto Rico's electricity grid to a best-in-class 21st-century system.

Prevent political interference at PREC and strengthen the independent regulatory commission

The six states examined in this report show that having a strong, independent regulatory commission with the authority to make legally binding requirements on a state's utilities is invaluable for implementing policy goals, regardless of whether those goals originate from the executive branch, the state legislature, or the voters. These states each have a strong regulatory commission that is responsible for approving rates and ensuring that utilities are achieving a variety of goals for emissions reduction and electricity reliability.

In most of these states, the regulatory bodies have a long history, many dating back to the early 20th century; this can be beneficial for creating a culture in the state in which there are clear expectations that the utility will comply with regulatory orders. However, it is not uniformly the case that these regulatory bodies have the benefit of a century of institutionalization: Minnesota provides a counterexample, where the regulatory commission only dates back to 1975. Furthermore, many of these states have made significant changes to their electricity markets in the past 20 to 30 years—most notably the states that have deregulated electricity generation. Thus, a long history of cooperation between the regulatory commission and the utilities may be helpful but not necessary to making market changes.

The role of the commissioners as technical implementers can be somewhat complicated by governors' appointment of commissioners. As noted previously in this report, some states temper this issue by staggering the terms of the commissioners, requiring confirmation of appointments by the state legislature, and/or requiring political balance in the composition of the commission.

Puerto Rican policymakers should therefore avoid politicizing PREC by combining it with other regulatory agencies or increasing the executive branch's control over the commission, as Gov. Rossello's plan would do, and should instead seek to protect the regulator's independence. PREC, the regulatory agency, should remain an independent, stand-alone body. The Legislature should additionally consider options to achieve balance among political parties and ways to introduce direct representation of consumers' interests, such as through a ratepayer advocate within PREC.

Redouble efforts to reach the goals set out in the RPS

While Puerto Rico has an RPS, it has so far fallen far short of the targets. Many success stories identified in this report follow the model of legislators or voters deciding on particular goals for the electricity sector, and the regulatory commission serving as an independent, technocratic body that determines the best way to execute the combination of all goals.

The commonwealth government should take additional steps to require PREPA to hit the 2020 and 2025 benchmarks of the RPS. These steps could include requiring PREPA to procure certain amounts of various electricity sources, such as solar and wind power, and providing performance-based incentive payments for hitting targets. In addition, the Puerto Rico Legislature could also consider augmenting the existing RPS and strengthening reliability by adopting legislation directing PREPA and PREC to implement a system of minigrids, as envisioned by Siemens, the Germany-based energy conglomerate, in a proposal released earlier this year. 154

Consider transitioning from a cost-of-service utility model to one that utilizes performance-based regulation

Given the history of corruption and mismanagement at PREPA, 155 it's clear that a business-as-usual approach is unlikely to lead to significant improvements in affordability, reliability, or emissions reductions across Puerto Rico's grid. 156

Many states are interested in performance-based regulation as a way to align utility incentives with policy goals. Several states have started to explore performance-based regulation as an alternative to cost-of-service regulation—paying utilities when they hit designated targets, such as energy efficiency goals, reductions in peak demand, optimizing existing assets, or distributed renewable-energy resource penetration rather than paying for costs plus a return. The idea is to incentivize the outcomes the state wants to see. Many of the broader electricity-grid modernization efforts, such as New York's REV, already underway include changing utility revenue models as a core pillar, and other states have gradually begun to implement performance-based regulation in more targeted ways to incentivize utilities to achieve particular goals.

Puerto Rico should consider implementing performance-based regulation in which PREPA's revenue is tied to hitting targets. Hawaii's Ratepayer Protection Act could serve as a model for how to initiate this process through legislation, creating guidelines that the regulator could then determine how to implement.

Design and enforce reliability standards that reflect Puerto Rico's island context

Most states find NERC's standards sufficient to meet their needs; however, they have different ways of implementing and ensuring compliance with them, and some states choose to go beyond these standards based on their local context. In New York, which has been affected by major weather events, the NYSRC has developed standards that are often more stringent than those of NERC. In Hawaii, where NERC standards do not apply, the regulatory commission has undertaken a process of developing its own standards, based on those of NERC.

Because it does not fall under NERC's jurisdiction, Puerto Rico should consider taking those standards as a starting point and undergoing a process similar to Hawaii's to adapt those standards to the local context. Puerto Rico may also want to look to New York as an example, both in terms of strengthening standards even further to prepare for the possibility of future storms and setting up a dedicated agency that is responsible for ensuring utility compliance with those standards.

Prioritize establishing strong governance standards over any particular utility model

The debate over whether PREPA should be privatized in whole or in part has raged in Puerto Rico for years, and this report does not take a position on any of the proposals. Policy initiatives to modernize the grid, reduce emissions, and improve affordability and reliability can work under a variety of electricity market structures and utility models. A variety of electricity market structures are represented here: Some states have deregulated markets while some do not; some have vertically integrated utilities while others have distribution-only utilities; many states have a mix of investor-owned utilities, municipal utilities, and cooperatives; and some are served by an independent system operator while others have utilities manage power flow. Modernization does not necessarily require one particular market model; putting the right requirements and incentives in place is more important.

Conclusion

The extent and severity of the damages caused to Puerto Rico's electrical grid by Hurricane Maria was unlike anything utility system experts had ever seen. 157 Restoring the grid to predisaster condition was a gargantuan task but was nowhere near sufficient to bring Puerto Rico's energy system into the 21st century or to protect residents from future storms. Policymakers must work swiftly to strengthen the island's electricity infrastructure—and ensure transparent, trustworthy regulatory and governance mechanisms are in place with regulators who are empowered to do their jobs. As the six states profiled in this report have done for decades, creating a strong governance system for the commonwealth's electric utilities must be central to that effort if Puerto Rico is to be ready to weather the next hurricane.

About the	author	
ADOUL THE	author	

Bonnie Krenz served as a senior policy adviser for energy and climate change policy at the U.S. Domestic Policy Council during the Obama administration. She lives in Washington, D.C.

Acknowledgments

Special thanks to Center for American Progress Senior Fellow Kristina Costa, the Center's Puerto Rico Relief and Economic Policy Initiative, and the Center's stalwart Editorial team.

Endnotes

- 1 Ayana Byrd, "All of Puerto Rico's Residents Have Electricity Again, But Grid Is Still Fragile," Colorlines, August 15, 2018, available at https://www.colorlines.com/articles/all-puerto-ricos-residents-have-electricity-again-grid-still-fragile.
- 2 Trevor Houser and Peter Marsters, "The World's Second Largest Blackout," Rhodium Group, April 12, 2018, available at https://rhg.com/research/puerto-rico-hurricane-mariaworlds-second-largest-blackout/.
- 3 U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Puerto Rico: Territory Profile and Energy Estimates," available at https://www. eia.gov/state/?sid=RQ (last accessed September 2018).
- 4 U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Puerto Rico Territory Energy Profile," available at https://www.eia.gov/state/ print.php?sid=RQ (last accessed September 2018).
- 5 Puerto Rico Electric Power Authority, "Amended and Restated Fiscal Plan - Draft Submission" (2018), available at http://www.aafaf.pr.gov/assets/prepa-fiscal-plan-march-2018---draft.pdf.
- 6 National Weather Service, "Major Hurricane Maria September 20, 2017," available at https://www.weather.gov/ sju/maria2017 (last accessed September 2018).
- 7 Gianpaolo Pietri, "Neglect, Corruption Left Puerto Rico's Power Grid Ripe for Failure, Observers Say," VOA News, November 30, 2017, available at https://www.voanews. com/a/experts-say-neglect-corruption-left-puerto-ricopower-grid-ripe-for-failure/4144129.html; Nick Brown, Robin Respaut, and Jessica Resnick-Ault, "Special Report: The bankrupt utility behind Puerto Rico's power crisis," Reuters, October 4, 2017, available at https://www.reuters. com/article/us-usa-puertorico-utility-specialreport/ special-report-the-bankrupt-utility-behind-puerto-ricospower-crisis-idUSKBN1C92B5.
- 8 Karen Pierog, "Puerto Rico utility debt restructuring deal points to path forward," Reuters, July 31, 2018, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-puertorico-prepa/ puerto-rico-utility-debt-restructuring-deal-points-to-pathforward-idUSKBN1KL2RJ.
- 9 James Wagner and Frances Robles, "Puerto Rico is Once Again Hit by an Islandwide Blackout," The New York Times, April 18, 2018, available at https://www.nytimes. com/2018/04/18/us/puerto-rico-power-outage.html; and Rafi Schwartz, "Thousands of Puerto Ricans Still Without Power as New Hurricane Season Looms," Splinter, May 31, 2018, available at https://splinternews.com/thousands-ofpuerto-ricans-still-without-power-as-new-h-1826462004.
- 10 Larry Greenemeier, "Repair or Renovate? Puerto Rico Faces Stark Power Grid Options," Scientific American, November 13, 2017, available at https://www.scientificamerican.com/ article/repair-or-renovate-puerto-rico-faces-stark-power-
- 11 Michael Weissenstein, "Puerto Rico grid 'teetering' despite \$3.8 billion repair job," Associated Press, May 31, 2018, available at https://www.apnews.com/fa210cd1434c4d-909e6030c7da884bce/Puerto-Rico-grid-'teetering'despite-\$3.8-billion-repair-job.
- 12 Nicole Acevedo, "Puerto Rico's new law moves to privatize power gird nine months after Hurricane Maria," NBC News, June 20, 2018, available at https://www.nbcnews.com/ storyline/puerto-rico-crisis/puerto-rico-officially-movesprivatize-power-grid-9-months-after-n885111.

- 13 Nicole Acevedo, "Puerto Rico's new law moves to privatize power grid nine months after Hurricane Maria," NBC News, June 20, 2018, available at https://www.nbcnews.com/ storyline/puerto-rico-crisis/puerto-rico-officially-movesprivatize-power-grid-9-months-after-n885111.
- 14 David Ferris, "Puerto Rico: Legislature privatizes electricity and spares the regulator," E&E News, June 14, 2018, available at https://www.eenews.net/special_reports/ in_the_dark/stories/1060084467/print; Acevedo, "Puerto Rico's new law moves to privatize power grid nine months after Hurricane Maria."
- 15 Génesis Ibarra, "Strong opposition to consolidation of Puerto Rico Energy Commission," Caribbean Business, February 6, 2018, available at https://caribbeanbusiness.com/strong-opposition-to-consolidation-of-puerto-rico-energy-commission/; Javier Balmaceda, "Puerto Rico's PREPA Privatization: A Sale Too Private," Forbes, April 3, 2018, available at https:// www.forbes.com/sites/debtwire/2018/04/03/puerto-ricosprepa-privatization-a-sale-too-private/#2644716f7490.
- 16 Ferris, "Puerto Rico."
- 17 Ibid.
- 18 Irwin Redlener, "The Puerto Rico death toll will only get worse," The Washington Post, September 2, 2018, available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/the-puertorico-death-toll-will-only-get-higher/2018/09/02/7b5d2eecad51-11e8-a8d7-0f63ab8b1370_story.html?utm_term=. b380c128402e.
- 19 Jim Yardley, "Texas Learns in California How Not to Deregulate," The New York Times, 2001, available at https://www. nytimes.com/2001/01/10/us/texas-learns-in-californiahow-not-to-deregulate.html.
- 20 Julian Borger, "Tapes reveal Enron's secret role in California's power blackouts," The Guardian, February 4, 2005, available at https://www.theguardian.com/business/2005/ feb/05/enron.usnews.
- 21 Electric Choice, "California's Direct Access Program," The Electric Choice Blog, November 16, 2016, available at https:// www.electricchoice.com/blog/direct-access-program/.
- 22 California Energy Commission, "Electric Load-Serving Entities (LSEs) in California," available at http://www. energy.ca.gov/almanac/electricity_data/utilities.html (last accessed September 2018).
- 23 California Public Utilities Commission, "Registered Electric Service Providers," available at https://apps.cpuc.ca.gov/ apex/f?p=511:1:0::NO::: (last accessed September 2018).
- 24 California Independent System Operator, "The ISO grid," available at http://www.caiso.com/about/Pages/OurBusiness/The-ISO-grid.aspx (last accessed September 2018).
- 25 California Public Utilities Commission, "CPUC History & Organizational Structure," available at http://www.cpuc. ca.gov/history/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 26 California Public Utilities Commission, "Commissioners," available at http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/commissioners/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 27 Navigant Consulting, "2010 Colorado Utilities Report: A Report of the Colorado Governor's Energy Office" (2010), available at https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/sites/ default/files/atoms/files/Colorado%20Utilities%20Report%202010.pdf.

- 28 Electric Choice, "Map of Deregulated Energy States & Markets (Updated 2018)," available at https://www.electricchoice.com/map-deregulated-energy-markets/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 29 Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies, "About the PUC," available at https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/dora/ aboutpuc (last accessed September 2018).
- 30 Colorado Department of Regulatory Agencies, "About the PUC - History," available at https://www.colorado.gov/ pacific/dora/puchistory (last accessed September 2018).
- 31 State of Hawaii Public Utilities Commission, "Commission History," available at http://puc.hawaii.gov/about/history/ (last accessed September 2018).

- 33 State of Hawaii Public Utilities Commission, "Commission History," available at http://puc.hawaii.gov/about/history/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 34 State of Hawaii Public Utilities Commission, "Energy," available at http://puc.hawaii.gov/energy/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 35 Hawaiian Electric Company, "Reliability: 24-hour Availability," available at https://www.hawaiianelectric.com/ clean-energy-hawaii/clean-energy-facts/reliability/24hour-availability (last accessed September 2018).
- 36 Guernsey, "Analysis of Alternative Forms of Ownership and Alternative Business Models for Maui County's Electric Utility Company" (2015), available at http://mauinow.com/ files/2016/01/Analysis-of-Alternative-Forms-of-Ownershipand-Alternative-Business-Models-for-Maui-Countys-Electric-Utility-Company.pdf.

37 Ibid.

38 Ibid.

- 39 Filsinger Energy Partners Inc., "Evaluation of Alternative Ownership Options for Electric Utility Assets on the Islands of Oahu and Hawaii" (Honolulu: University of Hawaii School of Ocean and Earth Science and Technology, Hawaii Natural Energy Institute, 2016), available at https://www. hnei.hawaii.edu/sites/www.hnei.hawaii.edu/files/Evaluation%20of%20Alternative%20Ownership%20Options%20 for%20Electric%20Utility%20Assets%20on%20Oahu%20 and%20Hawaii.pdf.
- 40 Commonwealth of Massachusetts, "Electricity Providers by Municipality," available at https://www.mass.gov/files/ documents/2017/09/11/map-of-electric-company-serviceterritories-by-municipality.pdf (last accessed September
- 41 Massachusetts Alliance for Municipal Electric Choice. "FAQs," available at http://massmunichoice.org/f.html (last accessed September 2018).
- 42 Commonwealth of Massachusetts, "Massachusetts municipally-owned electric companies," available at https://www. mass.gov/info-details/massachusetts-municipally-ownedelectric-companies (last accessed September 2018).
- 43 ISO New England, "About Us: Keeping the lights on in New England," available at https://www.iso-ne.com/about (last accessed September 2018).
- 44 Commonwealth of Massachusetts, "Department of Public Utilities history," available at https://www.mass.gov/ service-details/department-of-public-utilities-history (last accessed September 2018).

- 45 Massachusetts Legislature, "General Laws, Part I, Title II, Chapter 25, Section 2: Commonwealth utilities commission; membership; appointment and terms; chairman; quorum; salaries; annual report," available at https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/Partl/TitleII/Chapter25/ Section2 (last accessed September 2018).
- 46 Mike Bull, "Regulation of Energy Utilities in Minnesota" (St. Paul, MN: House Research Department, 2002), available at https://www.house.leg.state.mn.us/hrd/pubs/ss/ ssegutil.pdf.
- 47 Midcontinent Independent System Operator, "About MISO," available at https://www.misoenergy.org/about/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 48 Minnesota Public Utilities Commission, "About Us," available at https://mn.gov/puc/about-us/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 49 Energy Deregulation New York, "Electricity Deregulation," available at http://www.energyderegulationnewyork.com/ energy-deregulation/electricity-deregulation-ny/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 50 New York State Department of Public Service, "Electric Utilities Listing," available at http://www3.dps.ny.gov/W/ PSCWeb.nsf/All/03627EFC626529EE85257687006F39CD?O penDocument (last accessed August 2018).
- 51 I. Leo Sharfman, "Commission Regulation of Public Utilities: A Survey of Legislation," The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 53 (1914): 1-18, available at https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/1012179.pdf.
- 52 New York State, "Reforming the Energy Vision," available at https://rev.ny.gov/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 53 The Commonwealth of Massachusetts Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs, "Investigation by the Department of Public Utilities on its own Motion into Modernization of the Electric Grid" (2014), D.P.U. 12-76-B, available at https://eeaonline.eea.state.ma.us/DPU/Fileroom.
- 54 New York City Economic Development Corp., "A Stronger, More Resilient New York, Chapter 1: Sandy and Its Impacts "(2013), available at http://www.nyc.gov/html/sirr/downloads/pdf/final_report/Ch_1_SandyImpacts_FINAL_sinales.pdf.
- 55 New York State, "About REV," available at https://rev.ny.gov/ about/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 56 New York State, "Governor Cuomo Announces Fundamental Shift in Utility Regulation," Press release, April 24, 2014, available at https://www.governor.ny.gov/news/governorcuomo-announces-fundamental-shift-utility-regulation.

- 58 New York State, "Reforming the Energy Vision," available at https://static1.squarespace.com/ static/576aad8437c5810820465107/t/5aec725baa4a9 9171e5890d4/1525445212467/REV-fm-fs-1-v8.pdf (last accessed September 2018).
- 59 New York State, "About REV."
- 60 New York State Department of Public Service, "Reforming the Energy Vision: DPS Staff Report and Proposal" (2014), available at http://energystorage.org/system/files/resources/nypsc_rev_4_24_14.pdf.
- 61 State of New York Public Service Commission, "Order Adopting Regulatory Policy Framework and Implementation Plan" (2015), available at http://documents.dps.nv.gov/ public/Common/ViewDoc.aspx?DocRefld=%7b0B599D87-445B-4197-9815-24C27623A6A0%7d.

- 62 New York State Department of Public Service, "Reforming the Energy Vision."
- 63 State of New York Public Service Commission, "Order Adopting Regulatory Policy Framework and Implementation Plan!
- 64 Ibid.
- 65 Ibid.
- 66 State of New York Public Service Commission, "Order Adopting a Ratemaking and Utility Revenue Model Policy Framework" (2016), available at http:// documents.dps.ny.gov/public/Common/ViewDoc. aspx?DocRefld=%7BD6EC8F0B-6141-4A82-A857-B79CF0A71BF0%7D.
- 67 State of New York Public Service Commission, "Order Adopting a Ratemaking and Utility Revenue Model Policy Framework."
- 68 State of New York Public Service Commission, "Order Adopting Regulatory Policy Framework and Implementation Plan."
- 69 New York State, "REV Demonstration Projects," available at http://www3.dps.ny.gov/W/PSCWeb.nsf/All/B2D9D8 34B0D307C685257F3F006FF1D9?OpenDocument (last accessed September 2018).
- 70 The Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities, "Investigation by the Department of Public Utilities on its own Motion into Modernization of the Electric Grid" (2013), available at http://energystorage.org/ system/files/resources/ma_1276.pdf.
- 71 The Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities, "Annual Reports" (2014), available at https:// www.mass.gov/files/documents/2017/08/30/dpu-annualreport-2014.pdf.
- 72 Mark Lebel, "Mass. Dragging its feet on grid modernization," CommonWealth Magazine, February 26, 2018, available at https://commonwealthmagazine.org/opinion/massdragging-feet-grid-modernization/: Herman K. Trabish. "Massachusetts utilities take divergent approaches to grid modernization," Utility Dive, September 6, 2017, available at https://www.utilitydive.com/news/massachusetts-utilitiestake-divergent-approaches-to-grid-modernization/504119/.
- 73 Jared Anderson, "Massachusetts stirs controversy with solar demand charge, TOU pricing cut," S&P Global, January 9, 2018, available at https://www.spglobal.com/platts/en/ market-insights/latest-news/electric-power/010918-massachusetts-stirs-controversy-with-solar-demand-chargetou-pricing-cut.
- 74 Massachusetts Legislature, "General Laws, Part I, Title II, Chapter 25, Section 2."
- 75 Commonwealth of Massachusetts, "The DPU Commission," available at https://www.mass.gov/guides/the-dpucommission#cecile-m-fraser-commissioner (last accessed September 2018).
- 76 Minn. Stat. § 216B.2425 (2015), available at https://www. revisor.mn.gov/statutes/2015/cite/216B.2425?keyword_ty pe=all&keyword=multiyear+rate+plan+transmission.
- 77 New York State Senate, "Assembly Bill 5877-B: 2009-2010 Regular Sessions in Assembly February 20, 2009," available at https://legislation.nysenate.gov/pdf/bills/2009/A5877B (last accessed September 2018).
- 78 Historical website content available at U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Climate Impacts on Energy," available at https://19ianuary2017snapshot.epa.gov/climateimpacts/climate-impacts-energy_.html (last accessed September 2018).

- 79 State of California, "California Climate Change Legislation," available at http://www.climatechange.ca.gov/state/legislation.html (last accessed September 2018).
- 80 Renewable energy: California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program, S.B. 1078, Ch. 516 (September 12, 2002), available at http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/01-02/bill/sen/sb_1051-1100/sb_1078_bill_20020912_chaptered.pdf.
- 81 Air pollution: greenhouse gases: California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006, A.B. 32, Ch. 488 (September 27, 2006), available at http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/05-06/bill/ asm/ab_0001-0050/ab_32_bill_20060927_chaptered.pdf.
- 82 California Environmental Protection Agency Air Resources Board, "Overview of ARB Emissions Trading Program" (2011), available at https://www.arb.ca.gov/newsrel/2011/ cap_trade_overview.pdf.
- 83 Electricity: emissions of greenhouse gases, S.B. 1368, Ch. 598 (September 29, 2006), available at https://www. energy.ca.gov/emission_standards/documents/sb_1368_ bill_20060929_chaptered.pdf.
- 84 Renewable energy: Public Interest Energy Research, Demonstration, and Development Program, S.B. 107, Ch. 464 (September 26, 2006), available at http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/ pub/05-06/bill/sen/sb_0101-0150/sb_107_bill_20060926_ chaptered.pdf.
- 85 California Energy Commission, "Coal-Fired Power In Steady Decline In California Since 2005," December 12, 2016, available at http://calenergycommission.blogspot. com/2016/12/coal-fired-power-in-steady-decline-in.html.
- 86 California Air Resources Board, "California Greenhouse Gas Emissions for 2000 to 2016: Trends of Emissions and Other Indicators" (2018), available at https://www.arb. ca.gov/cc/inventory/pubs/reports/2000_2016/ghg_inventory_trends_00-16.pdf.
- 87 California Energy Commission, "Total System Electric Generation," available at http://www.energy.ca.gov/almanac/ electricity_data/total_system_power.html (last accessed September 2018).
- 88 California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006: emissions limit, S.B. 32, Ch. 249 (September 8, 2016), available at http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billPdf.xhtml?bill_id =201520160SB32&version=20150SB3288CHP.
- 89 A.B. 398, California Legislature, 2017-2018 Session (July 25, 2017), available at http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/ billPdf.xhtml?bill_id=201720180AB398&version=20170AB 39892CHP.
- 90 Ratepayer Protection Act, S.B. 2939 SD2, 29th Hawaii Legislature (July 1, 2018), available at https://www.capitol. hawaii.gov/session2018/bills/SB2939_SD2_.pdf.
- 91 Act 286, S.B. 2745, 26th Hawaii Legislature (July 9, 2012). available at https://www.capitol.hawaii.gov/session2012/ bills/GM1403 .PDF.
- 92 Kylie Wager, "Climate Change Law and Policy in Hawai'i: Briefing Sheet" (Honolulu: University of Hawaii Sea Grant College Program Center for Island Climate Adaptation and Policy, 2012), available at https://www.pacificrisa.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/03/CClawpolicy.pdf.
- 93 U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Hawaii: State Profile and Energy Estimates," available at https://www.eia. gov/state/?sid=HI#tabs-4 (last accessed September 2018).
- 94 U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Colorado: State Profile and Energy Estimates," available at https://www. eia.gov/state/analysis.php?sid=CO (last accessed Septemher 2018)

- 95 World Data, "Energy consumption in Puerto Rico," available at https://www.worlddata.info/america/puerto-rico/ energy-consumption.php (last accessed September 2018); U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Frequently Asked Questions: How much electricity does an American home use?" available at https://www.eia.gov/tools/faqs/faq. php?id=97&t=3 (last accessed September 2018).
- 96 Renewable Portfolio Standards, H.B. 623 HD2 SD2 CD1, 28th Hawaii Legislature (June 10, 2015), available at https://www. capitol.hawaii.gov/session2015/bills/HB623_CD1_.pdf.
- 97 Act 95, S.B. 2474, 22nd Hawaii Legislature (July 1, 2004), available at https://www.capitol.hawaii.gov/session2004/ Bills/SB2474_HD1_.htm.
- 98 California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program: emissions of greenhouse gases, S.B. 100, California Legislature (September 10, 2018), available at https://leginfo.legislature. ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201720180SB100.
- 99 U.S. Department of Energy, "Renewable Energy Standard," available at https://www.energy.gov/savings/renewableenergy-standard (last accessed August 2018).
- 100 Colorado Energy Office, "Renewable Energy Standard," available at https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/energyoffice/renewable-energy-standard (last accessed August
- 101 New York State Department of Public Service, "03-E-0188: Renewable Portfolio Standard - Home Page," available at http://www3.dps.ny.gov/W/PSCWeb.nsf/All/1008ED2F934 294AE85257687006F38BD?OpenDocument (last accessed September 2018).
- 102 Ibid.; New York State Department of Public Service, "Clean Energy Standard," available at http://www3.dps.ny.gov/W/ PSCWeb.nsf/All/56C58A580D2CF2E185257FD4006B90CE? OpenDocument (last accessed September 2018).
- 103 Energy Minnesota, "Renewable Energy In Minnesota," available at http://energyminnesota.org/fags/renewableenergy-in-minnesota#n-33 (last accessed August 2018).

104 Ibid

- 105 Hawaii Legislature, "2013 Hawaii Revised Statues: Title 15. Transportation and Utilities, 269. Public Utilities Commission, 269-6 General powers and duties" (2013), available at https://law.justia.com/codes/hawaii/2013/title-15/chapter-269/section-269-6/.
- 106 U.S. Department of Energy, "Renewable Portfolio Standard," available at https://www.energy.gov/savings/renewableportfolio-standard-4 (last accessed August 2018).
- 107 Electricity: natural gas: rates: net energy metering: California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program, A.B. 327, California Legislature 2013-2014 Session (October 7, 2013), available at https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient. xhtml?bill id=201320140AB327.
- 108 California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program: emissions of greenhouse gases.
- 109 Minnesota Commerce Department, "Efficiency," available at https://mn.gov/commerce/industries/energy/efficiency/ (last accessed August 2018).
- 110 Hawaii Energy, "Energy Efficiency Auction Fact Sheet," available at https://hawaiienergy.com/images/Auction/documents/HawaiiEnergyAuctionFactSheet.pdf (last accessed September 2018).
- 111 Hawaii Energy, "Hawaii Energy Selects Energy Auction Participants, Awarding Up To \$1.96 Million In Incentives," Press release, November 25, 2014, available at https:// hawaiienergy.com/news-events/news/281-hawaii-energyselects-energy-auction-participants-awarding-up-to-1-96-million-in-incentives.

- 112 California Public Utilities Commission, "Energy Efficiency Shareholder Incentive Mechanism," available at http:// www.cpuc.ca.gov/General.aspx?id=4137 (last accessed August 2018).
- 113 Colorado Energy Office, "Colorado C-PACE," available at https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/energyoffice/coloradoc-pace (last accessed August 2018).
- 114 Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, "Elements of RGGI," available at https://www.rggi.org/program-overview-anddesign/elements (last accessed August 2018).
- 115 Ariel Drehobl and Lauren Ross, "Lifting the High Burden in America's Largest Cities: How Energy Efficiency Can Improve Low Income and Underserved Communities" (Washington: Energy Efficiency for All and American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, 2016), available at http://energyefficiencyforall.org/resources/lifting-highenergy-burden-americas-largest-cities.
- 116 Minnesota Public Utilities Commission, "Staff Report on Grid Modernization" (2016), available at http://gridworks. org/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/MNPUC_Staff_Report_ on_Grid_Modernization_March2016.pdf; The Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities, "Investigation by the Department of Public Utilities on its own Motion into Modernization of the Electric Grid."
- 117 Rules Governing the Restructuring of the Electric Industry, 220 CMR 11.00, Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities (June 17, 2016), available at https://www.mass.gov/files/ documents/2017/10/11/220cmr11.pdf.
- 118 Cal. Pub. Util. Code §309.5, available at https://codes. findlaw.com/ca/public-utilities-code/puc-sect-309-5.html.
- 119 California Public Utilities Commission, "CPUC History and Organizational Structure," available at http://www.cpuc. ca.gov/history/ (last accessed August 2018).
- 120 Dan Aas, "Performance Based Regulation: Theory and Applications to California" (Berkeley: UC Berkeley Goldman School of Public Policy and Energy & Resources Group, 2016), available at http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/uploaded-Files/CPUC_Public_Website/Content/About_Us/History/ Aas%20PBR%20Paper%20Final_May_16.pdf; Herman K. Trabish, "Can performance-based ratemaking save utilities?" Utility Dive, April 17, 2014, available at https:// www.utilitydive.com/news/can-performance-basedratemaking-save-utilities/252683/.
- 121 Toby Brown, Michael J. Vilbert, and Joseph B. Wharton, "Incentive-based ratemaking: Recommendations to the Hawaiian Electric Companies" (Cambridge, MA: The Brattle Group, 2014), available at http://files.brattle.com/ files/5988_incentive-based_ratemaking_-_recommendations_to_the_hawaiian_electric_companies.pdf.
- 122 State of New York Public Service Commission, "Order Adopting a Ratemaking and Utility Revenue Model Policy Framework"
- 123 Environmental Defense Fund, "Time-variant electricity pricing can save money and cut pollution," available at https://www.edf.org/sites/default/files/time-variant_pricing_fact_sheet_-_april_2015.pdf (last accessed September 2018); Katrina Jessoe, David Rapson, and Jeremy Blair Smith, "The Effect of a Mandatory Time-of-Use Pricing Reform on Residential Electricity Use" (2012), available at https://www.aeaweb.org/conference/2013/retrieve. php?pdfid=318https://www.aeaweb.org/conference/2013/retrieve.php?pdfid=318.
- 124 Ken Belson, "Rewarding Those Who Wait to Flip the Switch," The New York Times, July 21, 2008, available at https://www. nytimes.com/2008/07/21/nyregion/21peak.html.

- 125 New York State Energy Research and Development Authority, Electricity Pricing Strategies to Reduce Grid Impacts from Plug-in Electric Vehicle Charging in New York State: Final Report (Albany, NY: New York State Energy Research and Development Authority, 2015).
- 126 Andy Bilich and Jamie Fine, "Utilities planning to move Californians to time-of-use pricing need solutions for low-income customers," Environmental Defense Fund, January 30, 2018, available at http://blogs.edf.org/ energyexchange/2018/01/30/utilities-planning-to-movecalifornians-to-time-of-use-pricing-need-solutions-forlow-income-customers/.
- 127 Jeff St. John, "An Hour's Difference Triggers Pushback Over California's Time-of-Use Rates," Greentech Media, August 8, 2017, available at https://www.greentechmedia.com/ articles/read/hour-debate-california-time-of-use-rates#gs. ER1akH4.
- 128 Rules Governing the Restructuring of the Electric Industry.
- 129 Energy Outreach Colorado, "Bill Payment Assistance," available at https://www.energyoutreach.org/programsfor-individuals/bill-payment-assistance/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 130 New York State, "Governor Cuomo Announces Expansion of Financial Benefits for Low-Income Utility Customers," Press release, February 16, 2017, available at https://www. governor.ny.gov/news/governor-cuomo-announces-expansion-financial-benefits-low-income-utility-customers.
- 131 Minnesota Power, "CARE: Customer Affordability of Residential Electricity," available at https://www.mnpower. com/CustomerService/CAREProgram (last accessed September 2018).
- 132 Energy Outreach Colorado, "Colorado's Affordable Residential Energy Program (CARE)," available at https:// www.energyoutreach.org/programs-for-individuals/careprogram/ (last accessed September 2018).
- 133 Energy Information Administration, "Puerto Rico Territory Energy Profile," available at https://www.eia.gov/state/ print.php?sid=RQ (last accessed September 2018); and Energy Information Administration, "Hawaii State Energy Profile," available at https://www.eia.gov/state/print. php?sid=HI (last accessed September 2018).
- 134 Energy Information Administration, "Hawaii State Energy Profile."
- 135 State of Hawaii, "Hawaii Green Infrastructure Authority GEMS Financing Program: Homeowners or Renters," available at http://gems.hawaii.gov/participate-now/forhomeowners/ (last accessed September 2018).

- 137 Hawaiian Electric, "Special Medical Needs," available at https://www.hawaiianelectric.com/billing-and-payment/ energy-assist-programs/special-medical-needs (last accessed September 2018).
- 138 North American Electric Reliability Corporation, "Reliability Standards," available at https://www.nerc.com/pa/Stand/ Pages/ReliabilityStandards.aspx (last accessed September
- 139 North American Electric Reliability Corp., "Reliability Standards," available at https://www.nerc.com/pa/Stand/Pages/ ReliabilityStandards.aspx (last accessed September 2018).
- 140 North American Electric Reliability Corporation, "Regional Entity Compliance Programs," available at https://www. nerc.com/pa/comp/Pages/Regional-Programs.aspx (last accessed September 2018).
- 141 Midwest Reliability Organization, "2018 MRO Regional Risk Assessment" (2017), available at https://www.mro.net/ MRODocuments/2018%20MRO%20Regional%20Risk%20 Assessment.pdf.

- 142 California Public Utilities Commission, "Ensuring State and National Electric Reliability," available at http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/ General.aspx?id=5218 (last accessed September 2018).
- 143 New York Independent System Operator, "New York State Reliability Council Agreement: Composite Agreement Reflecting Filings and Commission Orders Through December 29, 2009" (2008), available at http://www.nyiso.com/public/ webdocs/markets_operations/documents/Legal_and_Regulatory/Agreements/NYISO/nysrc_agreement.pdf.

144 Ibid.

- 145 New York State Reliability Council, "Reliability Rules and Compliance Manual For Planning and Operating the New York State Power System" (2016), available at http://www. nysrc.org/pdf/Reliability%20Rules%20Manuals/RRC%20 Manual%20V36%20%203-11-16%20Final.pdf.
- 146 ISO New England, "Reliability Standards: Development and Compliance," available at https://www.iso-ne.com/about/ what-we-do/in-depth/reliability-standards-developmentand-compliance (last accessed August 2018).
- 147 Brown, Vilbert, and Wharton, "Incentive-based ratemaking."
- 148 Alison Silverstein, "Reliability Standards Working Group: Independent Facilitator's Submittal" (Honolulu: Public Utilities Commission of Hawaii, 2013), available at https:// puc.hawaii.gov/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/RSWG-Facilitators-Report.pdf.
- 149 Cesar A. Silva Monroy and Verne W. Loose, "Hawaii Electric System Reliability" (Albuquerque, NM: Sandia National Laboratories, 2012), available at https://www.sandia.gov/ ess-ssl/publications/SAND2012-3862.pdf.
- 150 Silverstein, "Reliability Standards Working Group."
- 151 Ibid.
- 152 U.S. Department of Energy, Final Progress Report: Hawaii's Clean Energy Transformation and Grid Connection (2015), available at https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/ files/2016/04/f30/Hawaii%27s%20Clean%20Energy%20 Transformation%20and%20Grid%20Connection_Hawaii%20Department%20of%20Business%205354.pdf.
- 153 Hawaii State Energy Office, "Grid Modernization," available at http://energy.hawaii.gov/renewable-energy/grid-modernization (last accessed September 2018).
- 154 Siemens, "Siemens' White Paper Outlines Design for Mini-Grids to Energize Puerto Rico," Press release, July 23, 2018, available at https://news.usa.siemens.biz/press-release/ siemens-white-paper-outlines-design-mini-grids-eneraize-puerto-rico.
- 155 Daniel Bases, "U.S. House panel probes corruption allegations at Puerto Rico utility," Reuters, March 12, 2018, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-puertorico-prepa-probe/u-s-house-panel-probes-corruption-allegations-at-puerto-rico-utility-idUSKCN1GP03P; Gianpaolo Pietri, "Neglect, Corruption Left Puerto Rico's Power Grid Ripe for Failure, Observers Say"; Arian Campo-Flores and José de Córdoba, Puerto Rico's Power Woes Are Decades in the Making," The Wall Street Journal, September 23, 2017, available at https://www.wsj.com/articles/puerto-ricospower-woes-are-decades-in-the-making-1506176140.
- 156 The Economist, "The story of Puerto Rico's power grid is the story of Puerto Rico: Even before Hurricane Maria hit, it was a mess," October 19, 2017, available at https://www. economist.com/united-states/2017/10/19/the-story-ofpuerto-ricos-power-grid-is-the-story-of-puerto-rico.
- 157 Columbia Center on Global Energy Policy, "Carlos Torres – Restoring Power in Puerto Rico," Columbia Energy Exchange, September 10, 2018, available at http://energypolicy.columbia.edu/carlos-torres-restoring-power-

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

